The Dalles

By Susan Buce

The Dalles is one of the oldest permanently occupied places in Oregon, significant to Native people
for over ten millennia and to Euro-American settlers since the 1830s. The city, the largest in Wasco
County, is located on a bend of the Columbia River at the east end of the Columbia River Gorge
National Scenic Area. As the center of navigation on the Mid-Columbia River, The Dalles is the
county seat and was known as the Gateway to the Inland Empire, a jumping-off spot for pioneers,
soldiers, gold miners, and adventurers.

For more than ten thousand years before Euro-Americans arrived in the Pacific Northwest, Native
people gathered on the banks of the Columbia River to fish and trade. During the summer and fall
fish seasons, the population of the area swelled dramatically as people from other bands gathered
there for trade and interaction. The Wasq'6-pam (Wasco), the People of the Horn-bowl, lived in the
area; their descendants are now members of the Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs. The area
around The Dalles—including Horsethief Lake, Wakemap Mound, Atlatl Valley, and Roadcut—is
one of the most significant archaeological regions in the Pacific Northwest.

Located between Mount Hood and Mount Adams on the south bank of the Columbia River, The
Dalles was settled at the foot of a series of dangerous rapids. Meriwether Lewis and William Clark
noted the rapids in their journals as they passed through the area on their way to the Pacific Ocean
in October 1805 and on their return in April 1806. The site of the Expedition’s Rock Fort Camp in
present-day The Dalles, overlooking the Columbia River, is on the National Register of Historic
Places.

The word dalles was commonly used by fur traders to refer to areas where a river flows through
narrow, rocky channels, and French Canadian fur traders of the Hudson’s Bay Company called the
great rapids at The Dalles Les Grandes Dalles de la Columbia. Fur trader Gabriel Franchere
described the rapids in 1814 as "a channel cut by nature through the rocks, which are here almost
perpendicular: the channel is from 150 to 300 feet wide, and about two miles long. The whole body
of the river rushes through it, with great violence, and renders navigation impracticable."

American missionaries Daniel Lee and Henry Perkins established Wascopam Mission on March 21,
1838. By 1841, the mission had become an important stop for emigrants on the Oregon Trail, who
built rafts or contracted boatmen to ferry them downriver to Fort Vancouver. In 1845, the Barlow
Road offered an alternative route west around Mount Hood. In 1906, Ezra Meeker dedicated a
marker designating The Dalles as the End of the Oregon Trail; it is now in The Dalles City Park.

The U.S. government established Fort Dalles in 1850 to protect Americans traveling on the Oregon
Trail. The discovery of gold in Oregon and eastern Washington in the early 1850s brought gold
miners to the area and made The Dalles an important link between mining regions and Portland.
Steamboats took miners and supplies upriver from The Dalles and brought gold downriver, while
passengers, manufactured goods, and materiel came upriver from Portland.

In 1855, the territorial and U.S. governments forced area tribes to sign treaties, which ceded their
lands and removed them to reservations. After the treaties were in place, increasing tensions
ignited the Yakama War, and Fort Dalles became the central military headquarters for dispatching
federal troops to battle areas. By 1857, the war front had moved east, and Fort Dalles was
abandoned. The 1856 Surgeon's Quarters of the territorial fort, on the National Register of Historic
Places, is the home of the Fort Dalles Museum, which opened in 1905 and is one of the oldest
history museums in Oregon.

Dalles City was designated the county seat when Wasco County was created on January 11, 1854.
The original Wasco County Courthouse, built in 1859, was the first territorial courthouse west of the
Rockies. One of the last surviving territorial courthouses, the building is a museum and is on the
National Register of Historic Places. The town was incorporated as Dalles City on January 26,
1857. The town changed its name to The Dalles on March 22, 1860, and the name City of The
Dalles was officially adopted in 1966.



The Dalles, which has two historic districts with over seventy properties on the National Register of
Historic Places, remains a trading hub for the Mid-Columbia River. The Dalles Lock and Dam, one
of the ten largest hydropower dams in the nation, provides a reliable water source for navigation,
irrigation, and seasonal flood mitigation. When the dam went into operation on March 10, 1957, the
twenty-four-mile-long backwater lake that formed behind the dam submerged the rapids and Celilo
Falls, an ancestral fishery that had been used by Native people for millennia.

Notable Oregonians had roots in The Dalles, including the first Oregon State geologist, Thomas
Condon, who came to The Dalles in 1862 as a pastor for the Congregational Church. In 1882,
Zenas Ferry Moody was elected governor of Oregon; his son Malcolm Moody was elected mayor of
Dalles City in 1889 and served in the U.S. Congress from 1899 to 1903. Writer Harold L. Davis lived
in The Dalles from 1908 until 1928. His years in eastern Oregon became the grist for his novel
Honey in the Horn, which won the Pulitzer Prize in 1936.

The Northwest Aluminum made its mark on the Mid-Columbia with the construction of the Harvey
Aluminum smelter, which began operations in 1958. Martin Marietta Corporation acquired the
facilities in 1969 but began to curtail production in 1984, citing a drop in the world market price of
aluminum and high power rates. In 1986, Northwest Aluminum took over operations, but the
smelter closed again in 2000. While bringing a huge boon to the economy, the aluminum industry
also had an environmental impact, including damage to cherry crops from fluoride emissions. The
smelter was listed as a Superfund site in 1987 due to toxins from the spent pot liners and waste.
The Environmental Protection Agency began a cleanup of the site in 1989; it was deleted from the
EPA'’s National Priorities List in 1996.

During the 1980s, the Bhagwan Shree Rajneesh, who had purchased the Big Muddy Ranch in
south Wasco County, came up against county land use laws and in 1984 plotted to take control of
the county at the polls. The Rajneeshees poisoned restaurant salad bars in The Dalles with
salmonella, which affected 750 people. It was the first confirmed instance of chemical or biological
terrorism in the United States.

The Dalles had a population of about 16,000 in 2020, with almost 20 percent of residents Hispanic
or Latino. The city's top employers are the Mid Columbia Medical Center, School District #21, the
Oregon Cherry Growers, and the Army Corps of Engineers. Columbia Gorge Community College is
a national leader through its Renewable Energy Technology program, and Google located a data
storage facility in The Dalles in 2006, taking advantage of inexpensive hydroelectric power and the
city’s fiber-optic network. Orchard View Farms is the largest cherry grower in the state, and
vineyards flourish in the area, with The Pines growing grapes from vines planted over a hundred
years ago.
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